



High Temperature - High Pressure rated sensors and tools useful for geothermal purposes. Bibliographical Review

Final Report

BRGM/RP-57342-FR may 2009





High Temperature - High Pressure rated sensors and tools useful for geothermal purposes. Bibliographical Review

Final Report

BRGM/RP-57342-FR

may, 2009

Study carried out as part of research activities BRGM GTHR-02, under 6th Framework Programme funding - HITI project (High temperature instruments for supercritical geothermal reservoir characterization and exploitation)

> F. Gal With the collaboration of E. Béchu, G. Braibant, B. Sanjuan, F. Lebert

Checked by:

Name: B. Sanjuan

Date:

Signature:

Approved by:

Name: F. Boissier

Date:

Signature:

If the present report has not been signed in its digital form, a signed original of this document will be available at the information and documentation Unit (STI).

BRGM's quality management system is certified ISO 9001:2000 by AFAQ.



Keywords: Temperature, Pressure, pH, Conductivity, Sensors, geothermal wells.

In bibliography, this report should be cited as follows:

F. Gal, with the collaboration of **E. Béchu, G. Braibant, B. Sanjuan and F. Lebert** (2009) - High Temperature - High Pressure rated sensors and tools useful for geothermal purposes. Bibliographical Review. Final Report, BRGM/RP-57342-FR, 44 p.

© BRGM, 2009. No part of this document may be reproduced without the prior permission of BRGM.

Synopsis

This review is performed in the framework of the FP6 European project HITI (HIgh Temperature Instruments for supercritical geothermal reservoir characterization and exploitation). This research project, co-funded by UE and the different partners, aims to provide geophysical and geochemical sensors and methods to evaluate deep geothermal wells up to supercritical conditions (T > 375°C). The main objective in the Work Package 6 (WP6) is to examine and develop prospective strategies and new concepts in order to perform geophysical and geochemical measurements into wells at temperatures up to 500°C. This review is the first step of this objective.

Temperature and pressure resistant devices are strongly needed for high temperature geothermal applications. Achieving good temperature measurements at depth is a challenging task, as it requires sensors and materials that can survive in harsh environments or even under supercritical conditions (water critical point: $376^{\circ}C - 221$ bars). Other challenging tasks are the performing of reliable pressure, pH, electrical conductivity measurements under those high temperature - high pressure conditions. As a consequence and recently pointed out by the US Department Of Energy, there is a strong need to overpass those technological gaps in the forthcoming years.

Since all of those objectives have become more and more important to lot of industrial companies in the past years, lots of enhancements still are under development. This report intends to give a short overview of some of those developments, especially focusing on key parameters essential for realistic geochemical identification of geothermal systems. Temperature, pH, conductivity, dissolved gas species measurements, samples recovery as well as promising technologies that would become more and more developed in the near future will be the matter of discussion.

Contents

1. Introduction	7
2. Temperature measurements	9
2.1. PRINCIPLES	9
2.1.1. Thermocouples and Resistance Temperature Detectors	9
2.1.2. Capacitive sensors	10
2.1.3.Fibre optic sensors	10
2.1.4. Phosphor thermometry	12
2.2. USE FOR GEOLOGICAL PURPOSES	13
2.2.1.In-situ logging	13
2.2.2.Oceanographic measurements	16
2.2.3. Temperature logging using synthetic fluid inclusions	17
2.2.4. Other potential tools (laboratory development)	19
3. Measurements of other parameters	21
3.1. PH MEASUREMENTS	21
3.2. CONDUCTIVITY MEASUREMENTS	24
3.3. OXYGEN AND OTHER GAS SENSORS	25
3.4. GEOPHYSICAL PARAMETERS	26
3.5. IN-SITU SAMPLERS	27
3.6. PROGRESS IN ELECTRONIC CAPABILITIES	29
4. Conclusions and Perspectives	31
5. References	

.

1. Introduction

This review is performed in the framework of the FP6 European project HITI (HIgh Temperature Instruments for supercritical geothermal reservoir characterization and exploitation). This research project, co-funded by UE and the different partners, aims to provide geophysical and geochemical sensors and methods to evaluate deep geothermal wells up to supercritical conditions (T > 375° C).

Supercritical geothermal wells are presently non-conventional but may provide a very efficient way to produce electricity from a clean, renewable source. A deep geothermal well is currently being drilled for this purpose into the Krafla area, Iceland as part of the IDDP ("Iceland Deep Drilling Project") and with joint funding from Icelandic industry and science. Another deep well will be drilled in the Reykjanes peninsula, Iceland, in the framework of this same project.

The main objective in the Work Package 6 (WP6) is to examine and develop prospective strategies and new concepts in order to perform geophysical and geochemical measurements (temperature, pressure, gamma radiation, acoustic signal, fluid conductivity, pH and Redox, etc.), at temperatures up to 500°C. This review is the first step of this objective.

Temperature and pressure resistant devices are strongly needed for high temperature geothermal applications. For example, up to date US Department of Energy grant applications do focus on some of those topics, to improve characterization of geothermal resources [1]. Achieving good temperature measurements at depth is a challenging task, as it requires sensors and materials that can survive in harsh environments for hours (5000 hours expected, [1]), even in supercritical conditions (water critical point: 376°C - 221 bars). There is also a strong need to perform other measurements at depth, such as pressure, pH, electrical conductivity ones..., as pointed out by US DOE [2]. Last, it would also be of primary interest to properly collect fluids at depth without disturbing them by applying strong pressure changes or sudden thermal cooling. All of these aspects are part of the technological gaps identified by US DOE.

All of those objectives have become more and more important to lot of industrial companies, so that enhancements still are or will in the forthcoming years become available on the market. This report intends to give a short overview of some of those developments, as well as to highlight promising technologies that would become more and more applied in the future. As temperature evaluation is the primary goal, this aspect will be discussed in details, other high temperature rated devices for complementary chemical determinations being viewed in a secondary section.

2. Temperature measurements

2.1. PRINCIPLES

In industrial processes as well as in geological purposes, there are two ways to measure temperature [3]:

- the "contact" method, which implies a contact between the sensor and the object;
- the "non-contact" method, which relies to the heat radiations emitted by the object.

Both methods have their own advantages and disadvantages. Establishing a contact between two objects needs time to attain thermal equilibrium between the two objects, frequently between 1 to 3 minutes, while measuring radiation emissions is quicker (2 to 3 seconds). At the opposite, the contact method allows very accurate data acquisition that can nevertheless be modified by the contact process between two objects at different temperatures (respective relative "cooling" or "heating" of the two objects). Non contact measurements refer only to surface ones, or to mean temperature of the medium and are therefore less accurate. Even if the relative accuracy of those two measurement methods is quite similar (between 0.5 and 1%), their domain applicability is different. Inherent to its own principle of working, contact measurement is limited to a smaller temperature range, from -200 to 1200°C, and could be enhanced with some refinements up to 2300°C [4]. Radiations measurements can be made over a wider range, from -50 to 3000°C.

2.1.1. Thermocouples and Resistance Temperature Detectors

Frequently, temperature measurement can be done either by using a thermocouple or by using a resistance thermometer [3]. A thermocouple is based on the Seebeck effect, induced by the welding of two conductors to form a closed circuit. If the two welded junctions are exposed at different temperature, then an Electro-Motive Force (EMF) is created, which will vary as function of the temperature. A Resistance Temperature Detector (RTD) is based on the metals' electrical resistivity, which varies with the temperature. Metals chosen for RTD's have well known resistance changes for a given temperature shift [5]. By measuring its resistance at some unknown temperature and comparing this value to the resistor's nominal value (pre-specified resistance value at a given temperature, expressed in ohms), the change in resistance is determined, and the change in temperature from the point initially specified can be therefore calculated. Platinum is the most frequent used metal, as its properties vary linearly with temperature over a wide operating range, and as platinum is not affected by oxidation or corrosion [5, 6]. Platinum RTD elements are available either as thin films or as wire wounds [6].

Contrary to thermocouple devices, RTD would rather give the average temperature of the medium than the temperature of a precise location. Nevertheless, they are more accurate and stable in the long term.

Depending on the required application, several enhancements can be brought to temperature sensors. For example, resistance to corrosion can be obtained by protecting the sensor with stainless steel tubing - PTFE coated in the range 0 to 250°C [3]. Titanium alloy should be used with highly corrosive waters (brines, sea water) under 500°C, whereas enamel can resist up to 1000°C [3]. Silicon Carbide (SiC) alloys can be used to monitor temperature of molten metals around 1000°C. For higher temperatures, double protection tubes are required, frequently with an external ceramic coating [3]. Those pressure-tight receptacles that extend the life of a temperature sensor in chemically aggressive environments are also known as thermowells (e.g. SiC, fused quartz) [4].

Platinum RTD's should be used in the range -200 to 650°C, but RTD's wiring insulation is often made of TFE that would not resist over 250°C, as epoxy used for moisture proof sealing [5]. Fibreglass wiring can be used up to 482°C [6] and ceramics up to 600°C [7]. External casing can resist to pressures up to 2000 atm, to accelerations up to 20 G's and to shock up to 70 G's [8].

2.1.2. Capacitive sensors

For specific requirements, other temperature sensors can be used. By them, capacitive proximity sensors can be used in high temperature media with or without contact with the hot material [9, 10]. Entire temperature range extends from -70 to 250°C. Those capacitive sensors are sensitive to objects (both metallic and non-metallic) that exceed a specific capacitance when approaching the sensor on the object's surface [10]. The sensing distance (between 0 to 50 mm) is a function of the dielectric constant of the material, and this kind of measurement can be used in liquid and bulk materials. For applications in aircraft industry, specific capacitive sensors can be designed to work up to 900-1000°C [11, 12, 13]. In gun tunnels [12], which use piston compression to rise up pressure before expanding the atmosphere, temperature sensors must resist to high pressure (up to 7.7 MPa) and also to high temperature (up to 727°C), as well as resist to sudden pressure and temperature changes. Transient thin film platinum heat flux gauges are thought to work well in such conditions [10], as they are robust and able to produce high bandwidth data (c.a. 100 kHz). Thermocouple assemblages can also be used for reactor experiment (CNRS Orleans, up to 10 atm and 620°C) [13].

2.1.3. Fibre optic sensors

For some industrial purposes, the temperature sensor is exposed to high temperature, but also to high pressure conditions. Specific temperature sensors have been designed for those applications. Fibre optic sensors, as the TP-02 probe proposed by [14], use the inherent temperature sensitivity of the fibre Bragg grating as well as the thermal expansion of its housing. High resolution measurements can be done (0.4°C accuracy)

even in high pressure and harsh environments (max. 150 bars but only 85°C for this device [14]).

1

Indeed, fibre optic sensors do have lots of advantages for sensing temperature, pressure, mechanical strain, vibrations and even concentrations of chemical species [15]. They are built with insulating materials, immune to electromagnetic interferences, not subject to corrosion, have a wide temperature operating range and can be multiplexed. Moreover, laser detection is operated at the surface, without the need to have electronics at depth. Sensing can be based on the Bragg wavelength (the wavelength of maximum reflectivity [15]) that varies with strain and temperature. Refinements by adding many grating sensors in one fibre can provide measurement along the fibre (quasi-distributed sensing). Sensing can also be based on the Raman or Brillouin scattering (based on intrinsic fibre properties) sometimes allowing measurements over the full fibre length. Last, interferometric measurements, based on the Fabry-Pérot technique (light interference produced by two parallel reflecting surfaces either side of a small cavity [16]), can be performed with pairs of Bragg gratings [15].

As a consequence, lots of other fibre optic based sensors are available with greater functional ranges. In nuclear applications, optic fibres provide smart sensing capabilities, detailed self-diagnostic and multiple measurements processing [17]. Ceramic fibre optic pressure sensors can survive in high pressure (138 bars), high temperature (1400°C) and high radiation environments (1.6 x10¹⁸ neutrons per cm² and 6.6 Grad γ irradiation) [17]. High-temperature, radiation-hardened fibre optic pressure and temperature sensors needing to operate at temperature of at least 800°C and pressure up to 70 bars are also under development by the same manufacturer [18], highlighting recent developments in fibre optic engineering [19]. A promising 1000°C rated temperature sensor based on silica fibre has just been made commercially available [20]. Some sensors can withstand very high pressure (up to 1000 bars) and temperature (range 1700 - 3300°C) if protected by adequate optical window [21].

Exposure to high pressure conditions can also be monitored by specific pressure sensors, which are not thermometer as well but can survive in very hot environments. For example, continuous monitoring in combustion processes or chemically active environments can be done using static and/or dynamic pressure sensors [22]. Those sensors are also built using optical fibres, the intensity of the reflected light being proportional to the pressure induced deflections. Such sensors are small (up to 1.7 mm in diameter) and can operate in harsh conditions (up to 2000 bars and 350°C) [22]. Thin film pressure transducers can also operate in such conditions or even hotter (up to 593°C [23]), depending on their self protection (stainless steel tubing, double isolation...).

As many sensors are built using silica fibre, questions have arisen about strength and durability of optical sensors exposed to harsh conditions. Indeed, measurement methods often rely on the modulation of the optical length path within the silica fibre. Some studies [24] tend to demonstrate that silica fibres can be damaged when exposed to high temperature and high pressure conditions, birefringence properties being strongly affected under 270 bars and 200 to 300°C. Another limitation is the

cross-sensitivity between measured pressure and temperature that can lead to erroneous data [25]. A recent patent describing a low-cost sensor system capable of operating in high-temperature, high-pressure downhole environments and offering a better accuracy can be purchased from the University of Strathclyde [25]. Nevertheless, temperature records have been recently proven to be achievable at very high temperature (1295°C), with Bragg gratings operating even when the optical fibre has become brittle [26].

Despite some disrupting effects, optical properties of fibres are commonly used for monitoring temperatures over long distances, up to 30 to 50 km long [27, 28, 29]. Such temperature distributed sensing operates very fast and can bring useful information regarding pipeline safety for example. Measurements (Raman or Brillouin scattering) can either be done with a single fibre (mirror-ended) or a loop (two fibres), with spatial resolution of 3 m at 50 km distance. Temperature resolution is 0.1°C and operating range up to 700°C (limited by optical fibre) for 50 km long [27], and as fine as 0.004°C up to 30 km long but with considerably lower temperature resistance (40°C; [29]). A modified Fabry-Pérot cavities based fibre sensor has been recently demonstrated in South Korea, by splicing together three different types of fibres [30]. Temperature changes between 50 and 1000°C have been monitored with a 50°C stepping.

2.1.4. Phosphor thermometry

In the industry, another kind of thermometer is frequently used to follow steel manufacturing [31], heat transfer in gas turbine [32], aerospace [33] or engines [34] applications by measuring surface temperatures. The non-contact technique is based on the temperature dependence of fluorescing materials, such as phosphors, whose fluorescence decay time is a sensitive function of temperature. A thin layer of material is applied on the surface, illuminated with UV light (usually from a laser) and the subsequent luminescence interrogated.

As pointed out by [35] in their recent review, this method is more precise that pyrometric one, but requires bonding phosphors to the surface of interest. This is often done by coating phosphors onto ceramics that can survive in hazardous physical and chemical environments and are insoluble in water [33].

For some phosphor chemistries using rare earth elements, the ratio between two emission bands can vary by a factor of 40 for a 100°C temperature variation, thus enabling very sensitive measurements [36]. For example, [31] used thermographic phosphor thermometry to monitor temperatures ranging from 450 to 700°C with an accuracy of \pm 5°C, but temperature up to 1400°C can be reached using the temperature-dependent luminescent properties of lanthanide-doped ceramics (e.g. dysprosium and samarium based ceramics) [32]. Nevertheless those authors report a quite worse repeatability, around 70% in the range 25-625°C. Rare earth content of the phosphors can be modified to account for gas compositional and pressure conditions. Some researchers [37] have tested compositions that survive up to 30 bars, but only at room temperature.

Nevertheless this technique doesn't seem to be used in geothermal wells, as it requires applying material onto a surface.

2.2. USE FOR GEOLOGICAL PURPOSES

Constrains on temperature sensors applicable for geothermal purposes are partly met by industrial devices, but as the sensors would be lowered in media becoming hotter (the minimal electrical power generation temperature is 180°C [38]), insulation or protection against warming should be more efficient. Conventional low-temperature electronic devices cannot withstand the ambient temperatures that may reach 300°C or greater within the well. Typically, a heat shield or a Dewar-flask is used to house the electronics and maintain the internal temperature below a design maximum. Due to the limited performance of such heat shield devices, the temperature inside the package gradually rises during the time that the tool remains downhole, thus limiting the total logging time. Such a flask adds significant cost as well as geometrical volume to the tool [38]. Moreover, it's not possible to work as in laboratory measurements, with an acquisition unit outside a HT-HP chamber that includes the temperature probe. Therefore, there are fewer devices available than can work in hot to very hot wells. Nevertheless, as the petroleum industry has noticed a greater demand for HT-HP applications and drillings, lot of work is currently under progress to produce newer tools at reasonable costs. In particular, Measurements While Drilling (MWD) and Logging While Drilling (LWD) are requiring such tools development. It's worth noting that frequently temperatures probes are associated with pressure probes, so that in the following sections some HP sensors would also be described.

2.2.1. In-situ logging

Data acquisition during drilling has become of great economical importance, as it allows quicker site characterization and therefore substantial cost reductions. Petroleum companies and associated engineering currently sell different probes and devices that can monitor many parameters, but the majority of them are limited to pressures under 200 Mpa and temperatures under 250°C [39]. Numerous research efforts are thus done to extend temperature range capacities. As a consequence, the following instrumentation could either be commercially available or currently under development:

- In-situ data recording sampler which monitors downhole temperature and pressure respectively up to 150°C and 138 MPa [39]. This recorder is programmed at surface and functions with self batteries, measurements being done using Unigage gauges. Those gauges are rated to work during well testing: a quartz sensor is used for high permeability reservoirs with no sudden pressure changes, whereas a sapphire sensor is preferred for HT-HP environments (acidic, or H₂S-, CO₂-rich). Lifetime is close to one year. Quartz gauges can also be devoted to the only pressure monitoring, with extended lifetime (10 years) and similar maximum pressure and temperature ratings (resp. 173 MPa and 177°C).
- A high-temperature MWD tool capable to operate in a 200°C environment during 50 hours and to survive during 5 hours in a 220°C environment has been built in

Japan and tested in 1997 and 1998 [40]. It can resist to 30 G's vibrations during 6 hours and to short 1000G's shocks. Outer probe diameter is 44.4 mm and the length is 12 m. Acquisition data include azimuth, inclination, tool face and borehole temperature. A pressure pulse device is utilized in order to transmit borehole information data from the bottom to the surface by emitting a positive pulse up signal to the mud. No new electronics were developed, rather chosen in those having a high heat-resistance performance. Lifetime of these screened high-temperature electronics is from 100 to 250 hours in a 200°C environment. The temperature sensor is made of PN-junction diodes.

- A Pressure, Temperature, Spinner (PTS) instrument designed to continuously measure and record downhole temperatures, pressures and flows in geothermal wells is also available [41]. This instrument is capable of operating at 315°C and up to 200 bars pressure, either operating on mono conductor cable in online mode (surface readout) or on slickline in downhole memory mode. The external diameter of the instrument is 45 mm. The memory module can be operated in wells where the temperatures exceed 315°C (successfully tested at 320°C), which is the maximum mono conductor cable working temperature. Measurement probes consist of a strain gauge pressure transducer and a platinum RTD. The electronics are designed to operate inside a pressure housing at atmospheric pressure and over a temperature range of -5°C to 90°C. The life of the RTD is dependent on the operating temperatures. Typical speeds are c.a. 0.6 m.s⁻¹ while logging.
- Fibre optic device has been used with success up to 249°C in deep well logging [39]. Temperature logging using fibre optic is less complex and time consuming than conventional temperature log [42]. Conventional logging requires to attach a probe at the end of a cable, and to lower it at reasonable speed to build a continuous log. At the opposite, fibre optic monitoring just requires to install a fibre optic cable into the borehole, with no active electronic component downhole [43]. When at equilibrium with the medium, then a temperature log for the whole depth range can be nearly immediately obtained. Moreover, fibre optic cable is resistant to aggressive water chemistries. It has been tested in EPS1 borehole (HDR site Soultz-sous-Forêts) in November 2006 and experiment should have ended in mid of 2007. The cable's central element is an Inconel 625 tube holding 3 OFS type fibres, which are a hydrogen resistant line of graded index optical fibres, specialized for performance in Distributed Temperature Sensing (DTS) applications. The tube is covered by an ETFE (Ethylene-tetrafluorethylene copolymer)-belt. The strength member of the cable consists of two layers of stranded galvanized improved plow steel. The fibre core and cladding are silica glass drawn. The primary coating is a very thin layer of carbon that chemically bonds with the glass to provide a hermetic seal against moisture at all temperatures. In order to allow the fibre to perform in environments ranging up to 300°C, a secondary coating of pyrocoat polyimide was added [42]. The fibre optic pressure sensor is based on non-contact deflection measurement of a stainless steel diaphragm (Fabry-Perot interferometry) [42, 43]. Pressure creates a variation in the length of a Fabry-Perot cavity consisting of the inner surface of the stainless steel diaphragm on one side and of a glass window on the other. Due to costs reasons, the pressure sensor is actually not active in the logging tool. This sensitive Raman scattering temperature measurement is also used in other commercially available tools such as the Instantaneous Temperature

Profile Log (ITPL), which can operate up to 300°C along 3000 m depth pathway in 50 mm diameter hole or less (cable resistance 300 to 350°C) [44]. The measurement principle is based on the temperature and the pulsed laser technique called OTDR, with temperature determination each meter at one minute interval or less.

- Fibre optic device has also been used with success with temperatures higher than 300°C, but with some size limitations induced by the use of flask shielding [38, 45]. This flasked high temperature tool is intended for the logging of pressure, temperature, percentage of water in the vapour phase, and the vapour phase flow rate in geothermal wells and steam injection wells. This tool uses a Dewar-flask to protect electronics and sensors from the downhole harsh environments, and may be operated up to 7 hours at 400°C before the internal temperature rises to an unacceptable level and the onboard battery power is exhausted. The tool is 4.57 cm on diameter and 183 cm long with the housing. The sensor package is used as a self-contained well logging tool in that all electronics including a battery power supply are enclosed onboard, and the tool is lowered into and recovered from steam injection wells using a passive steel wire slick line. Data is recorded in an onboard memory unit during the logging operation. Temperature range is 0-400°C with 0.5% resolution, and pressure range is 0-200 bars with the same resolution. This logging system has also been field tested without its housing for long term monitoring, but with smaller temperature range (up to 250°C) [38]. Electronics, based on SOI components, was designed to permit direct wireline data logging without the need for the thermal flask. SOI electronic components can survive over a full -55 to +225°C temperature range for a minimum of five years of operation, and for one year at 300°C. The key premise of the high temperature downhole logging tool is the HTASIC (High Temperature Application Specified Integrated Chip), which allows the integration of more functions. Outside tool diameter is reduced to 3.17 cm, with an overall length of 137 cm. Temperature range is 0-250°C with 0.5% resolution, and pressure range is 0-690 bars with the same resolution. TDS Range is 0 to 6,000 mg/l with 0.5% accuracy.
- Another way to measure temperature in wells is to deploy fibre optic distributed temperature sensing technology behind the casing [46], as proposed to long-term monitor a 4265 m depth and 143°C bottom temperature well in Germany (Groß Schönebeck Geothermal Lab) using Sensa technology (UK).
- Metal-coated fibre Bragg grating sensor has also been deployed for measuring under high-temperature and high-pressure conditions (oil wells, [47]). The metal coating allows improving bonding performance between metal material substrate and sensor and prolonging the lifespan of the sensor.
- Improving measurement techniques should also refer to improvements of electronic components found in MWD tools. An US research program launched in 2002 has for main objective to build a permanently installed pressure and temperature sensor in a 175-200°C well using Silicon-On-Insulator (SOI, see V.) technology and to demonstrate a 225°C MWD tool using a unique 225°C battery system that can operate up to 6100 m depth [48]. Field testing of the temperature sensor was realised at 192°C and the hybrid battery (VCO A/D circuit) lab tested at 250-300°C.

- Two new MWD systems have been recently developed [49]. The first system is the Hostile Environment Logging (HEL™) MWD system that comprises directional and gamma ray tools, with options for downhole pressure, vibration, and temperature sensors. The second system is the Precision LWD[™] system that adds resistivity, neutron, and density tools to the tool string. The HEL MWD system is rated to a maximum operating temperature of 180°C and survival to 200°C, with associated bottomhole pressure rating of 207 MPa (drilling up to 9,754 m depth). The Precision LWD[™] system is rated to a maximum operating temperature of 150°C (survival up to 165°C).
- Last, one currently available temperature gauge can record in geothermal environments up to 370 °C [50]. The KTG LV Temperature Recorder uses the principle of the multiple helical coil bourdon tube, with two metals reacting differently to temperature. This reaction creates rotation in the coil. The clock is used to regulate the travel of the chart carrier through the lead screw, lead nut and push rods. The recording section of the KTG LV and Bi-Metal transmits the rotation of the bourdon tube (or external coil) to the stylus shaft which is connected to the stylus assembly, rotating within the chart carrier. The stylus assembly scribes a mark on a coated chart within the chart carrier. The LV element uses an external coil on the top end which transfers temperature down through the sensing element. The Bi-Metal element uses a special housing that transfers well temperature to the sensing element. Both the LV and the Bi-Metal elements are quick responding, corrosive resistant and reliable. Diameter is 3.17 cm, length 140 cm, maximum pressure 1520 bars and maximum temperature 370°C (±1°C). The tool can withstand nine hours at 315.6°C and 5 to 6 hours at 370°C.

2.2.2. Oceanographic measurements

HT-HP temperature sensors have been used for many years for deep sea research along mid oceanic ridges, in order to better understand water dynamics and chemistry near black smokers. The Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution [51] holds all the drawings and assembly information since the production of the so-called "Hobo" high temperature fluid logger stopped in 2006. These self-recording temperature loggers have been used for more than ten years with lot of success (see related bibliography [51]) in Pacific and Atlantic oceans. They are rated for operating up to 6000 m depth with temperature between 152 and 417°C. Two designs were used for the assembly. The oldest is cylindrical and the latest spherical, this geometry allowing on-board refurbishment during cruses. A detailed report describing the operating protocol for high temperature measurements is available [52]. Temperatures of hydrothermal vents have been measured since 1993 using probes based on the Hobo and Stowaway 8bitlogging chips made by Onset Computer Corp. The chips, housed in custom Grade 2 titanium pressure housings made by Deep Sea Power and Light, are connected to platinum resistance temperature device (RTD) sensors located at the end of a 61 cm or 72 cm long hollow, air-filled 6.35 mm diameter titanium tube. Two RTDs are encased in high-temperature ceramic for each logger, to prevent damage to the fine wires that connect them to the Onset[™] chips. Batteries supplied with the logger are Lithium/thionyl chloride made by Tadiran Batteries Ltd [51]. All seal surfaces have been machined to tolerance and the entire housing is rated to 6000 m depth and certified for

Alvin operation [51]. When first developed, these probes allowed measurement periods ranging from 360 days with sample frequencies of 4.8 h, to periods as short as 1 day with sample frequencies of 4 s [52]. More recent models of these loggers (Stowaway), tested and deployed in 1995, have a 32k memory chip that permits sampling periods as short as 0.5 s and recording times as long as 5 years with data recorded every 1.5 h. The probes have been deployed and recovered by the deep submergence vehicle Alvin during five dive programs to the area. The sensors have a precision of 1°C between 153°C and 419°C and have been intercalibrated with Alvin's thermocouple probe. Oceanographic studies have also dealing with in situ high temperature pH measurements that will be described in section III.

2.2.3. Temperature logging using synthetic fluid inclusions

This method using the synthesis of fluid inclusions using known solutions has been deployed in hot wells since the beginning of the 90's, and has proven a good agreement with other logging tools (under 300°C). Temperatures up to 449°C are expected in the Kakkonda geothermal system [53], which is the melting point of tellurium. The highest temperature recorded in geothermal wells in Italy was 419°C, which is the melting point of zinc. As said before, conventional downhole instruments have lower temperature limits even using Teflon cable (tensile strength length limit of 3000 m at temperatures above 315°C). Practically, platinum RTD's, thermocouples and optical fibres used as wire-line tools to measure formation temperatures are limited to temperatures around 300°C [28]. Electronic devices can measure hotter temperatures, but this is only possible if the device is shielded against heating with an insulation vessel such as Dewar flask (limit 350 to 375°C [53, 54]). Temperatures above 400°C can be estimated by using metals or melting tablets whose melting points are known, such as Zn (419°C), but it only gives minimum values [53, 54].

Synthetic fluid inclusion logging should therefore be a tool for carrying out these measurements and also be a method for directly sampling fluids in high-temperature boreholes where conventional tools cannot be used. This technique is based on the formation of fluid inclusions in cracked minerals. Cracked crystals, soaked in saturated solutions in gold or platinum capsules, are placed in a geothermal borehole for days to several weeks and then recovered. The sealed capsules contain solutions of known pressure-volume-temperature (PVT) properties, used to synthesize fluid inclusions. The cracked crystals are soaked in these solutions in the sealed capsules, and fluid inclusions are easily formed through crack healing in host crystals. Borehole temperatures are determined by measuring the homogenization temperatures (Th) of the inclusions. In addition, geothermal fluids are directly sampled as fluid inclusions in cracked crystals in containers that can be opened at the required sampling depths in the boreholes [53].

However, major technical problems arise when using the synthetic fluid inclusion techniques, such as determining temperatures above the critical point of water (reduced accuracy) and the time taken to form the fluid inclusions [53]. Indeed, if producing cracked crystals able to form fluid inclusions at depth is a controlled process, the mechanism of crack healing at depth is not fully understand. Last, another technical

problem is to obtain sufficient fluid for chemical analysis, and to reduce contamination of the fluid sample as much as possible.

Quartz is the most popular crystal used, as the silica solubility in various solutions and P-T ranges has been studied for many years. For example, α -quartz can be used as a synthetic fluid inclusion logging tool up to 573°C. Calcite and anhydrite can also be used, calcite stability being also sensitive to the CO₂ content whereas anhydrite becomes stable under geothermal conditions [53].

Trapping temperatures of the fluid inclusions are determined by means of isochors constructed from the *Ths* on the saturated vapour pressure curve, but also need borehole pressures measurements, either directly measured or extrapolated from solutions of different PVT properties placed in separate capsules. However, the accuracy of this second method is lower. Instrumental errors may also arise when using a heating stage, the thermal gradients in sample holders of the stages generally increasing with increasing temperatures [53].

Some refinements have been made to strengthen this method. Batch-autoclave experiments conducted to evaluate the potential use of synthetic those fluid inclusions as a simultaneous temperature - pressure (and fluid sampling) logging tool in deepseated, high-temperature (> 350°C) geothermal systems are reported [54]. Fluid inclusions, up to 50 µm long, have been readily synthesized during 5-day autoclave experiments (conducted at 375-475°C and 39-62 MPa) in pre-fractured, inclusion- and impurity-free artificial quartz. Inferred fluid inclusion trapping conditions are calculated by deducing the intersection of isochores derived from microthermometric data for three sets of simultaneously trapped synthetic fluid inclusions in healed microfractures. Synthetic fluid inclusion logging offers a precise borehole temperature measurement technique without need of any pressure correction. Pressure estimates are less precise, although the method may be improved by using a combination of H₂O - NaCl and H2O - KCI solutions/salinities, and fluid/quartz/amorphous silica systems that facilitate crack healing but trap fluids that do not homogenize at near-critical conditions. Synthetic fluid inclusions, unlike mechanical sampling, can also be applied when reservoir fluids are scarce, since minute amounts of fluid can be analyzed by Raman microspectroscopy, laser ablation inductively coupled plasma mass spectroscopy and secondary ion mass spectroscopy [54].

However, there are many practical and chemical limitations to understanding the characteristics of the reservoir fluid since reservoir conditions are typically inferred from the analysis of fluids contaminated by fluids introduced during drilling programs. In addition, a partial or complete phase change is likely to occur as a result of pressure decrease as the fluid moves towards the surface. For hypersaline fluids, sampling can induce phase separation to salt and liquid phases, while CO₂, CH₄, H₂S, N₂ and other gaseous constituents are likely to escape from the fluid [54]. There are also potential limitations to the use of synthetic fluid inclusions as a sampling tool. For example, the chemistry of the inclusion fluid may not be exactly the same as that of the primary reservoir fluid, as there will likely have been chemical exchange with the host mineral (e.g. modification of δ^{18} O of inclusion fluid). Equally challenging are the technical difficulties involved in using fluid inclusions as downhole fluid samplers, including how

to lower into the geothermal borehole the fractured quartz crystals in which reservoir fluids are subsequently trapped. Crack healing could occur as the quartz is lowered into the borehole, thus trapping fluid inclusions with a range of density and chemical compositions. Using container fitted with rupture disks to avoid such unwanted entrapments should be a solution [53].

2.2.4. Other potential tools (laboratory development)

The US National Energy Technology Laboratory (NETL) initiates in 2005 the development of the UDS (Ultra Deep Single Cutter Drilling Simulator) to provide critical science needed to engineer effective and efficient drilling technologies viable at depths greater than 6.1 km. The test cell will be rated to 2070 bars and 300°C [55].

Pressure sensors that could survive in harsh environments are also progressively made available by [22] or [56]. Firsts ones are dedicated to continuous monitoring (up to 3 years) for high pressures (up to 2000 bars) in hot conditions (up to 350°C) [22]. The second one, based on silica piezoresistive gauges, can operate at 1500 bars under temperatures of 500 to 700°C (only for few minutes; [56]). New designs and new applications are welcomed by the inventor.

3. Measurements of other parameters

3.1. PH MEASUREMENTS

Despite the existence of several pH electrodes operating at high temperature (e.g. hydrogen concentration cell, palladium hybrid electrodes and ceramic membrane electrodes - [57] and reference therein), in-situ pH measurements at high temperature are often difficult to obtain, inducing the development of methods based on the chemical analysis of reservoir fluids discharged via deep geothermal wells, or surface features. A new tube-type flow-reactor has been developed, with a pH measurement system, to simulate fluid-rock interaction processes over a range of temperature up to 500°C and pressures between 10 and 50 MPa [57]. The pH of reacted hydrothermal fluid in the flow system may be measured under reaction conditions or at room temperature. The pH of the hydrothermal fluid at 'reservoir' conditions is assessed using SOLVEQ92, based on the potential difference between an external reference electrode and a Pt-hydrogen electrode, pH and potential difference of standard buffer solutions and major element chemistry of the solutions. HDR experiments were undertaken at 20 MPa and thermal gradient up to 425°C.

As for temperature measurements, fibre optic appears to be a promising technique that could in the future bring powerful information in geothermal wells. Optical sensors for pH monitoring in such environments must match several restrictive conditions. Moreover, there is a strong need to develop sensors suitable for in-situ long term measurements, e.g. through permanent downhole equipment [58]. Existing devices used for water logging and monitoring, such as potentiometric measurement of electromotive force based on glass electrodes, are poorly stable under elevated temperature and pressure and suffer from long time response to changes in ionic composition. Colorimetric methods using reactions with indicator dyes do react faster, but suffer from a lack of precision [58]. Nevertheless, entrapping dye molecules into thick polymeric films, or bonding them to a substrate for immobilization, can allow creating promising optical pH sensors, as those devoted to groundwater monitoring [59]. Fused silica fibres (7 bars, 220°C), holding colorimetric indicators (from phenol red to thymol blue, pH ranging from 6.5 to 12 pH units) acting either as transmissive or reflective ones, are available for long term monitoring [60]. Other indicators (bromocresol) have been employed for brines pH measurements where conventional electrodes (glass porous membrane) were dramatically affected by fouling [61].

Optic detection can then be based on the monitoring of the fluorescence signal, evanescent light, total internal reflection, surface Plasmon resonance, optical time domain reflectometry ... [58, 62, 63, 64, 65]. Fluorescein indicator has being proven to be reliable to pressures up to 250 MPa, but limited by pressure induced dissociation of weak acids [66]. Variations of -0.4 pH unit at 100 Mpa and -1.0 at 200 MPa of several acids and buffers are reported for this fluorescein method. Using plastic cladding, multipoint fibre sensors allowing measurements along the entire fibre with a spatial

resolution of 2.5 m have been processed [63, 67]. Mercurochrome can also be monitored using fluorescence measurements for in-situ pH determinations [68].

Those statements lead to the recent patenting of an optical sensor for pH using a cross-linked network of bi-functional organosilane agents to immobilize a pH sensitive chromophore to a surface potentially exposed to a high pressure, high temperature environment [58]. Changes in the indicators' UV or visible spectra are thus pH related. The inventors suggest this kind of sensor could also be adapted to monitor P_{CO2} . Another newly patented apparatus, based on spectroscopic measurement of pH, has extended the applicability of such a method to high pressure - high temperature domains [69]. Indeed, inventors noticed that since the pH measurement is only dependent from the molecular properties of the indicator dyes, the need for calibration prior measurement can be cancelled if dye equilibrium dissociation constants are properly characterised. Standard salt buffer equilibrium models are used to calculate pH at temperatures and pressures higher than those reported by the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry. By determining acid dissociation constants of various dyes, temperatures up to 150°C, pressures up to 680 bars and ionic strengths up to 3 mol/kg can be monitored [69].

Apart from water logging with CTD probes¹ which is beyond the subject, deep sea research in hydrothermal areas has also lead in the last years to the development of insitu pH electrodes that can survive in harsh environments. The challenge of determining pH of a chemically complex fluid at elevated temperatures and pressures indeed involved the need to account for temperature and pressure dependent changes in the distribution of aqueous species. First pH measurements using solid state electrochemical sensors are reported in the Pacific Ocean [70]. Vent fluid temperature and pressure ranged from 180 to 384°C and 220 to 250 bars, respectively. pH sensors for use in seafloor hydrothermal systems make use of solid-state YSZ (yttria-stabilized zirconia) ceramic, which has been used with success in laboratory studies to determine pH of aqueous fluids at high temperatures. This device is still the one that is known to be able to work in harsh environments [58]. In its initial seafloor deployment, however, the YSZ-sensor was configured in such a way that pH was not explicitly determined, but rather pH response served as a reference permitting measurement of dissolved H₂ and H₂S. In the present study [70], this configuration was changed in that the YSZsensor was combined with an Ag-AgCI reference electrode allowing pH_{(in situ}) to be explicitly determined.

The pH electrode assembly is located at the tip of the sensor and housed in a titanium casing. The Ti-casing was designed to enhance the flow of fluid passing the electrodes, while at the same time protecting the electrodes from potential impact with rock or chimney structures. Uncertainties from the sensor are on the order of 0.02 pH units. Uncertainties on dissolved CI concentration contribute to errors (0.05 pH unit for a 100 mM uncertainty), as well as more serious uncertainties associated with the thermodynamic database used to calculate chlorine activity. Overall errors in reported pH values can be as high as 0.1 units [70].

¹ See part 3.2 for temperature and pressure limitations for the use of such devices.

The pressure housings containing the transition unit and electronics package are constructed of titanium alloy. The titanium alloy housing prevents seawater access to the electrical contacts leading to the electrode assembly or the electronics package, where signal processing is carried out.

YSZ sensors are also used for pH measurements of deep fluids for geothermal purposes. Many natural geochemical systems (and industrial applications) are characterized by relatively HT, HP, high ionic strength and low pH. For example, most axial hot-spring fluids are acidic, with dissolved CI concentrations ranging from 40 to 200% of the seawater value (0.55 mol), and have temperatures as high as 400°C. Thus, to assess the viability of the YSZ (ZrO₂ with 9% Y₂O₃) membrane as a pH sensor in fluids with relatively high ionic strength (0.57 mol NaCl) and low to moderate pH, experiments are performed at supercritical conditions of water (400°C and 40 MPa) in a titanium flow reactor [71]. The measurements agree well with theoretical predictions, showing strong associations of HCl^o and NaOH^o complexes in high-temperature fluids. The pH sensor has an uncertainty lesser than 0.05 pH unit. Stated sensor life is 1500 hours under those HT-HP conditions. Nevertheless, the measured potentiometric changes associated to pH variations under supercritical conditions suffer from slow response time (20 minutes) and lack of stability if the reference electrode is in contact with the fluids [58].

Moreover, other limitations of those YSZ sensors have been highlighted in recent years, especially dealing with sensor durability when exposed to high temperatures [72]. This is a significant achievement over the typical durability of glass electrodes (only a few hours) at 90°C or above, but is still a question when operating sensors in harsh environments where the sensors can't be replaced. YSZ sensor durability may be limited by thermal shock, chemical leaching or insufficiency of internal buffer ([72] and references therein). During experiments performed at 91°C (minimum cell operating temperature of YSZ sensor is 83°C), [72] enhanced sensor durability by filling two to three times as much Hg-HgO paste as done in previous experiments. Liquid based internal buffers (e.g. Hg/HgO) provide quicker response time because their contact resistance, compared to hard contact (solid Cu/Cu₂O) buffers which will decrease the overall bulk resistance and increase response time.

This statement leads to the recent patenting of YSZ pH electrodes for applications at temperature up to 400°C and pressures up to 60 MPa. This Zr/ZrO_2 electrode is based on a Zr wire coated with Zr oxide and insulated [73]. Coupled with other newly patented Au and Ag/AgCl electrodes, this allows the HT-HP determination of pH, H₂, Eh and/or H₂S in solution. Indeed, the YSZ sensors are specific ion sensors and can be hardwired to function as either an oxygen or hydrogen ion sensor. By hard wiring the sensor to preferentially detect an oxygen ion, the sensor can be made to detect the fugacity of oxygen in solid, melt, or vapour environments [72]. By choice of different circuitry, the YSZ sensor can also be used to measure hydrogen ion in a wide variety of geothermal and industrial aqueous solutions (e.g. palladium/platinum resistance sensor rated up to 410°C and 276 bars [74]. Some manufacturers sold YSZ pH sensors with Ag/AgCl

reference electrode for applications at temperatures higher than 130 to 185°C [75, 76²]. Resolution is 0.01 pH units with an accuracy of \pm 0.3 pH units. Operating temperature can extend up to 360°C but is practically limited by the reference electrode at 300°C. Pressure rating is limited by the one of the ZrO₂-based pH probe, around 138 bars (up to 355 bars for the reference electrode).

Last, CO₂ geological storage experiments match the same HT-HP conditions for pH monitoring, with supercritical carbon dioxide. Expected conditions under geological storage are then dependent on the aquifer chemistry and the reactive nature of the reservoir host rock. Very limited fundamental measurements of pH and aqueous speciation have been performed in water-salt-CO₂ mixtures at high pressure. A high-pressure view cell equipped with a pressure-capable glass combination pH probe was used to independently measure solution pH in H_2O-CO_2 brine mixtures to beyond supercritical conditions [77].

3.2. CONDUCTIVITY MEASUREMENTS

As for temperature and pH, conductivity sensors that could perform realistic measurements at high pressure and/or high temperature are frequently coming from industrial applications. For example, boiler sensors can handle 200°C but only 17 to 20 bars [78]. Other geometries based on stainless steel and ceramics can resist to 250°C and 40 bars, but the connection between the sensor plug and the cable can only handle temperatures up to 100°C [79]. Nevertheless it's worth noting that small conductivity changes are better recorded at high temperatures than at room temperature [80].

Temperature resistance of conductivity sensors should be much greater in steam turbines, reaching hundreds of Celsius degrees. In those harsh environments, it's of great importance to well monitor corrosion due to salt solution (mainly NaCl) occurring as a vapour phase. For those applications sensors includes a metal foil base over which is deposited a glass insulating layer [81]. Available corrosion resistant devices can operate up to 200°C and perform reliable measurements in the range 0-20,000 μ S/cm depending on the chosen cell constant [82]. Research efforts have recently focussed on conductivity measurements in concentrated solutions (NaCl - H₂SO₄ - H₂O) [83]. Measurements were performed in the range 25 to 250°C with an electrodeless conductivity cell.

Two types of sensors geometries could be deployed depending on the monitoring focus. Sensors can either work by contact, which is the more common application, or allow flow circulation between the measuring electrode (toroidal conductivity sensor) [84]. Those sensor can be deployed to monitor water, wastewater, groundwater and also acid and base [85]. Depending on the sensor inside, those conductivity probes can withstand temperatures up to 200°C and pressures up to 21 bars, with a whole measurement range of 0 to 2,000 mS/cm. Transmission distance is around 100 m [86].

² This manufacturer also sells a platinum redox probe operating up to 305°C and 350 bars.

Last, as for above mentioned parameters, lots of conductivity sensors do exist for oceanographic applications and can be rated up to 10,000 m depth (e.g. [87, 88]). Nevertheless there are frequently limited to 50-60°C maximum temperature, bringing them unusable in hot environments. Moreover they are built using large scale electrodes, which can be a limiting factor for long-term monitoring in wells. This led to the recent patenting of a micro sensor system for liquid conductivity, temperature and depth [89]. This invention is based on the use of liquid crystalline polymer allowing manufacturing thin film sensors. Thus water salinity can be easily monitored with the conjoint use of pressure and temperature micro-sensors, all sensors being designed to have a flat planar shape.

3.3. OXYGEN AND OTHER GAS SENSORS

In the past ten years, lots of efforts have been made to build thin film gas sensors using gallium oxide Ga_2O_3 . Because of oxygen vacancy in the crystal, this oxide behaves like a n-type semiconductor over 600°C and transforms into a very stable monoclinic crystal after an annealing process [90]. This kind of thin film operates as a surface-control-type sensor due to a reduced gas below 900°C and a bulk-type sensor due to an oxidized gas above 900°C. Oxygen sensors have been built using those specific properties, by deposing gallium oxide on a silica substrate [91]. Some refinements include a sandwich structure using platinum, allowing measurements at 1000°C for industrial purposes [92].

In coal-fired plants, combustion optimization has led to the development of oxygen sensors that avoid plumbing problems. Potentiometric internal reference oxygen sensors were then created by embedding a metal/metal oxide mixture within an yttria-stabilized zirconia oxygen-conducting ceramic superstructure [93]. Long-term operating and resistance to strains of thermal cycling are some of the sensor characteristics, temperature being limited to 800°C.

Other gaseous species implied in harsh environments (power plants, exhaust streams...) become nowadays important to monitor with great accuracy (levels of ppm): e.g. CO, CO₂, NH₃, NOx, hydrocarbons, H₂, H₂S, H₂O [94]. Researches currently under progress aim to develop micro-scale gas sensing devices for such applications, using, thin film gas sensitive layers in combination with SiC based micro hotplate devices. Two sensing techniques are envisaged, for investigations at temperature greater than 500°C:

- the first, based on electrochemical thin films, for sensing H₂O and H₂S. Materials of interest are BaZrO₃ doped with Y and BaCe₂S₄ doped with Ca to measure H₂O and H₂S concentrations, respectively;
- the second, based on metal oxide semi-conductive sensing, for H₂, CO, CO₂, NH₃, NOx and hydrocarbons. Materials of interest are In₂O₃, Ga₂O₃, and NiO, the first two of which are n-type semiconductors and the last of which is a p-type semiconductor.

Other sensing approach can be used to determine concentrations of CO_2 and NO [95]. It appears that sensors utilizing passive wireless resonant telemetry scheme are relevant to eliminate the need for onboard power and exposed interconnects. The

wireless platform is based on an inductor capacitor resonator circuit, using nickel and ceramic dielectrics. Those dielectrics exhibit variations in electrical properties with exposure to different levels of CO_2 (changes in conductivity of a 1:1 mixture of BaTiO₃-La₂O₃) and NOx (changes in permittivity of a 1:1 mixture of ZnO-WO₃). CO₂ sensor can operate up to 675°C and NOx sensor up to 600°C, while detecting NO concentrations below 5 ppm [95].

Another set of sensors is based on bulk acoustic wave resonators for sensing CO and H_2 [96]. The system consists of CeO₂ coated langasite (La₃Ga₅SiO₁₄) resonators with a special electrode design to detect mechanical and conductivity changes in the sensor film. The aim is to be able to distinguish between those two species at high temperature (about 600°C). Bulk acoustic wave resonators allow the detection of resonance frequency shifts caused by changes in mechanical properties of the sensing layer. Langasite, a new high temperature stable piezoelectric material, can be excited to bulk acoustic waves at temperatures up to 1470°C [96].

Last, fibre optic can also be envisaged for gas sensing. [97] used a sol-gel-processing technique to bond a copper-exchanged zeolite fluorescence indicator onto the end of an all-silica optical fibre. Experimental results from prototype sensors show they can be used to measure either the oxygen concentration or the equivalence ratio for gas mixtures containing weak or strong reductants, respectively. Fabry-Perot fibre sensors are also attractive alternatives, because the optical path length in the cavity is related to the refractive index of the medium inside, and by extension to its chemical composition [16]. Changes in cavity length were measured up to 1100 °C, but suffer from thermally induced bending at very high temperatures. Nevertheless the cavity would enable to operate the fibre as a chemical sensor based on measurements of the solution's refractive index.

To end this part dedicated to chemical determinations, it should be mentioned that other kind of sensors do exist for quantification of some dissolved species, preferentially in freshwater environments [88]. Ammonia, nitrate, chloride and fluorine can be monitored in the 0-1000 bars range.

3.4. GEOPHYSICAL PARAMETERS

As HT-HP surviving sensors are needed for chemical applications, petroleum service companies have also conducted research to extend the working capacities of their geophysical sensors, especially for MWD (measurement while drilling) and LWD (logging while drilling) applications.

LWD commercially available tools have been rated up to 175°C in the beginning of the 2000's, with survival at 200°C [98]. Sensors for gamma ray, resistivity, neutron and density logging have been field tested at depth up to 4.5 km and temperatures up to 186°C [98]. Triaxial accelerometer and magnetometer have been successfully laboratory tested at 195°C for 700 hours, highlighting the need of more effective electronic components such as SOI [99, 100]. Those devices are currently under improvement for deepest applications (up to 230°C and 1380 bars [101]), close to temperature range of deep gas reservoirs in south Texas and the Gulf of Mexico [100],

but some power limitations due to batteries lifetime do exist [101]. Primary tool modules that should be strengthen are those for telemetry, gamma ray, generator, battery and directional applications [100, 102]. Some manufacturers strengthen their existing devices using Dewar technology to shield the electronics: operating time of acoustic televiewers can thus reach 10 hours at 275°C, with maximum pressure around 800 bars [103].

Another important parameter considering MWD and LWD tools is the reliability of the sensor and the electronics. For example up to date SOI electronics are rated to operate 20 years at 150°C, 10 years at 200°C but only 5 years at 225°C [104].

For oil and gas applications, this factor is slightly less important than in geothermal applications, as approximately 95% of the existing wells have temperatures under 150°C. But for those geothermal applications, reservoir ambient temperature can reach 350°C or more. Several problems can then be encountered:

- when drilling, dealing with high reservoir temperature is less crucial, as the mud cools the fluid below 225°C, operating devices being rated to 250-350°C [104];
- when logging the well in its isothermal state, temperature becomes of great importance, needing sensors or devices that could really survive at 350°C. Moreover, during production, the flowing fluid causes vibration when rising up, so that logging tools must also resist to shocks [104];
- for temperature equal to or lesser than 300°C, which represents 75% of the geothermal market, operating life is close to 1000 hours (c.a. 10 logs before replacing electronics [104]). This duration is considerably lower than the typical operating lifetime of oil and gas electronics emplaced in casing or completions (3 to 5 years nowadays, sought to be extended to 10 to 30 years in the future).

3.5. IN-SITU SAMPLERS

As stated for other kind of measurements, petroleum industry has numerous devices that can perform in-situ sampling at depth, but often with temperature limitation around 200°C and maximum pressure between 103 and 138 MPa [39]. Sampling could either be done with bottom pressure compensation, punctual collection of pore formation water or with ultra low contamination by fluids used during drilling (Quicksilver probe [39]). Other tool geometry implies to lower a flow-through design chamber with open valves on each end, with closing at the desired depth (programmed at surface or mechanically activated) [50, 54]. Pressure is preserved for around 0.6 litre of sample (maximum salinity 300 g/l), at maximum temperature of 230°C and maximum pressure of 690 bars [50]. Another goal of petroleum industry is to perform in-situ downhole measurements in real time without interfering with production by using permanent remote sensors and fibre optic cable data transfer [105]. This newly developed device (2006) uses near-infrared spectroscopy and induced fluorescence measurement to accurately determine oil, water and gas concentrations over a broad range of water cuts (error less than 5%). The active components are located at the surface while the only downhole components are optical windows and fibre optic cable. Limit sensor deployment depth is 1.83 km and extendable to 3.05 km using non laser technology, and to virtually any depth with laser technology [105].

Researches applied to geothermal field characterization have to deal with higher temperature, currently 300°C or above. As for oil purposes, two sampling techniques can be used: the "flow through" and the "vacuum" types [106]. However with the first type the sample can be a mixture of the fluid encountered during the deepening of the device. The second type implies under HT-HP conditions a boiling of the sample when it enters the sampler. Therefore [106] have built a downhole system capable of operating up to 400°C with minimal sample alteration and zero contamination, using a Controlled Displacement Sampler (CDS). Field tests were performed at 1125 m depth under 200°C and 5.81 MPa conditions. This CDS is made of two coaxial chambers protected by a heat insulated pressure body. The inner chamber is divided into two sections by a movable piston which preserves the sample fluid from contamination by the piston working fluid. The outer coaxial chamber is connected to the working fluid chamber by an adjustable throttling valve. When a sample is collected the working fluid is transferred to the outer chamber under the control of the throttling valve. A sample is collected by perforating a thin rupture disk with a timer controlled piercing needle [106]. Nevertheless, as the sampler has to be lowered and recovered each time a sample is needed, it can create chemical disturbances especially in non pumped wells.

Note that the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory holds a downhole high temperature fluid sampler with downhole electronics rated up to 350°C [107].

Such high temperatures are also frequent near hydrothermal vents. Ten years ago a shape-memory alloy based sampler was designed to collect fluids on those structures [108]. Shape-memory alloy (SMA) serves as both sensor and actuator of relatively large power (Patented). Thus, the sampler senses hot fluid and generates pumping power from the heat energy of the fluid. A 50.18% Ni and 49.82% T alloy in spring is used to form the actuator and the high-temperature sensor, with a phase transformation temperature of 80°C (from martensite at low temperature to austenite at high temperature). A shape-memory alloy is also used to switch the intake valve of the sampler, the intention being to avoid missampling when the inlet is in low temperature water. Test sampling was performed at hydrothermal vents (1372-1374 m deep) with fluid temperatures between 138 and 298°C and ambient seawater temperature of 3.1°C [108]. Approximate dimension is 70 mm in diameter and 300 mm in length before suction, and 420 mm long after suction allowing the collection of about 100 ml of fluid sample.

Last, fluid sampling can also be made using synthetic fluid inclusions [54] but the amount of water is considerably lower. Moreover there is no control on the kinetic processes, so that fluid mixtures can be sampled. The advantage is the higher temperature range (up to 573°C with α -quartz).

In a complementary perspective, in-situ measurements on fluid phase could give additional information. Real-time downhole fluid composition (oil, water, gas) using fibre optic sensor (near-infrared detection) is available for well completions, allowing for example to detect gas or water breakthrough [109]. Temperature and pressure

survivability are 200°C and 1380 bars respectively, with a 5 years long operating life and no downhole electronics. Moreover, based on their unique infrared absorption spectrum, carbon, hydrogen, oxygen or sulphur species can be monitored.

Last, fibre optic can also be used during tracer experiments in geothermal environments [<u>110</u>]. In the Hijiori HDR site in Japan (2200 m depth, 270°C), tests were conducted using potassium iodine, potassium bromide, and fluorescein. Despite some troubles, fibre-optic fluorometer detection of fluorescein has been continuously performed during a 2 years long term circulation test.

3.6. PROGRESS IN ELECTRONIC CAPABILITIES

Lot of work is also performed to enhance power capabilities of devices used in LWD or MWD applications. Batteries should be modified to work several weeks at high temperatures (up to 250°C), as classical lithium-magnesium/thionyl chloride batteries are limited to 200°C. Testing cells made of Pyrex glass with a tungsten wire-glass seal (oxidized tungsten surface) have been successfully laboratory tested [111]. Capacitors should also resist to high temperatures exposures up to 250°C that should be available in 2009 [112, 113]. Downhole microcomputer system used to perform in-situ real time data acquisition should also overcome to temperature around 275°C (295°C rated) during at least 1000 hours using Silica-On-Sapphire (SOS) components [114]. SOI components are also strengthened to work at such elevated temperatures [115, 116]. Piezo-resistive pressure sensors based on separation by implanted oxygen SOI (SIMOX) technology for pressure measurement (0-40 MPa) at high temperature (up to 220°C) were developed for oil drilling industry [117]. Memories rated up to 400°C have been developed for fluid density logging tools [118].

In recent reviews, [<u>119, 120, 121</u>] summarized the up to date developments and the postulated capabilities of each electronic devices. SiC can operate up to 500°C and SOI up to 300°C, without any heat shielding. Even a 600°C SiC pressure senor for future applications in Jupiter or Venus surfaces has yet been designed. New ceramic batteries are under development to withstand temperatures up to 500°C [<u>120</u>].

4. Conclusions and Perspectives

This review focuses on two main objectives. The first one is to examine existing temperatures sensors that can be used or adapted for sensing under high pressure – high temperature conditions (i.e. above water critical point). The second one is to identify strategies and concepts in order to perform other measurements (fluid conductivity, pH, Redox...) useful for geochemical and geothermal purposes.

Four principal techniques currently used for temperature measurements in industrial applications have been highlighted:

- Resistance Temperature Detectors, whose operating range extends from -250 up to 1000°C, depending on sensors' shapes and insulations. Pressure resistance can reach 2000 bars;
- capacitive sensors can perform measurements between -70 and 900 to 1000°C, but with associated maximum pressure only close to 76 bars;
- phosphor thermometry is also frequently used (from 25 to 1400°C and 30 bars), but needs the deposition of materials onto the surface to monitor;
- last, fibre optic sensors can withstand higher pressures (up to 1000 bars), similar temperatures (1400°C) and operate in harsh environments. Measurements can moreover be performed along the whole fibre, which is not achievable using other sensing techniques.

Some of these techniques have been or are currently in use for geological purposes. One particular limitation of in-situ temperature sensing is not directly linked to the sensor itself, but to the electronics that frequently need to be coupled with the sensor. As a consequence, previously mentioned temperature domains are rather limited, reaching 250 to 370°C for available logging tools even if electronics are heat shielded. Lifetime is considerably lowered under high temperature, reaching only few hours. At the opposite pressure does not seem to be a limiting factor, some instruments surviving at 10,000 m depth. Fibre optic sensors appear to be the most frequent sensing tool deployed for geological applications, and RTD sensors for oceanographic ones. An alternative technique is the in-situ synthesis of fluid inclusions, using appropriate metals whose melting points are well defined, but it suffers from relative uncertainty (melting temperature is not necessarily the maximum temperature reached at depth) and from other bias (mimicking bottom fluid chemistry is a challenging task).

The evolution of chemical parameters is also very important to monitor at depth. The following techniques could be deployed, but they all need further refinements to become fully operational:

- pH measurements are representative of the fluid 's chemistry, as well as its dissolved gas content. Fibre optic sensing appears to be a promising technique, e.g.

by entrapping colorimetric indicators into the fibre (within a 220°C - 2000 bars domain). Another approach directly comes from oceanographic applications, using solid-state Yttria-Stabilized Zirconia sensors (max. 380°C - 250 bars);

- conductivity measurements at high temperature at depth are less common, as corrosion by saline fluid can quickly damage sensors. Recent researches focus on monitoring conductivity using liquid crystalline polymers manufactured as thin films;
- the thin film technique is also used for building gas sensors, but to our knowledge no work has been reported for their use under geothermal conditions. Other approaches focus on bulk acoustic wave resonators, passive wireless resonant telemetry and fibre optic sensing.

As numerous works are aimed to better characterize fluids at depth, there is also a strong will to develop devices that could sample deep fluids and recover them at the surface with minimal disturbances. Indeed, recovering fluids is necessary to perform complementary laboratory measurements. Existing samplers can nowadays operate up to 230°C and 1400 bars, operating either by "flow through" or "vacuum". Theoretical maximum temperature limitations are frequently higher (350-400°C) but testing at such high temperatures is not yet reported. Moreover their volume is quite limited (frequently less than 1 litre), leading to the emergence of "hybrid" devices that can determine insitu concentrations of oil, water and gas. The oceanographic approach uses Shape-Memory Alloys acting both as sensor and actuator to collect fluids in a desired temperature range.

All of the previous mentioned devices or sensors are also dependent from progress in electronic capabilities. For example batteries' and memories' lifetime and strength must be improved. Electronic components (printed circuit ...) must also be enhanced, the most promising ones (Silica-On-Sapphire, implanted oxygen Silica-On-Insulator, Silicon Carbide ...) being nowadays intensely studied for their capacities and survivability under high temperature - high pressure conditions.

As oil and gas applications need to explore deeper and deeper sedimentary formations, as geothermal energy applications are continuously growing, there is then a strong willing to develop sensors and devices rated for higher temperature and pressure domains, which can survive during long time in harsh environments. To our mind, some of the key parameters will be:

- the development of high temperature electronics, or the extension of electronic durability under HT-HP conditions;
- the development, if necessary, of smaller and better heat shields, e.g. mimicking the thermal barrier coatings used in the gas turbines industry (ceramics based);
- strengthen the durability of fibre optics at depth;
- pursuing researches on rare earth zirconates as alternative to YSZ sensors.

As shown by this bibliographic report, done in the 2009 spring, evolution is very rapid, so that new devices will become available very soon.

As part of the HITI project, this review is also aimed to develop prospective strategies and concepts for monitoring under high temperature - high pressure conditions. In that way, BRGM's work will focus in the forthcoming months on working on and/or testing the following items:

- precisely identifying the most promising ways and materials that would help to build efficient thermal shields;
- focus on pH measurements, either by testing YSZ sensors if available on the market at reasonable cost, or by working on colorimetric methods and optic detection (usable molecules, stability ranges...).

5. References

- [1] http://www.science.doe.gov/sbir/solicitations/FY%202009/21.EE.Geothermal.htm
- [2] Jelacic A., Fortuna R., LaSala R., Nathwani J., Nix G., Visser C., Green B., Renner J., Blankenship D., Kennedy M., Bruton C., 2008, An Evaluation of Enhanced Geothermal Systems Technology, Geothermal Technologies Program, US Department of Energy, 37 p.
- [3] http://www.dongda-sensor.com/en/index.asp
- [4] <u>http://www.conaxbuffalo.com</u>
- [5] <u>http://www.thermometricscorp.com/</u>
- [6] <u>http://www.omega.com/</u>
- [7] <u>http://www.dwmai.com/</u>
- [8] <u>http://www.paineelectronics.com</u>
- [9] http://www.sie-sensorik.de
- [10] http://www.rechner.de
- [11] http://www.capacitec.com
- [12] Buttsworth D.R., Jones T.V., 2003, High bandwidth stagnation temperature measurements in a Mach 6 gun tunnel flow, *Experimental Thermal and Fluid Science* 27, p. 177–186.
- [13] Dagaut P., Nicolle A., 2005, Experimental study and detailed kinetic modelling of the effect of exhaust gas on fuel combustion: mutual sensitization of the oxidation of nitric oxide and methane over extended temperature and pressure ranges, *Combustion and Flame* 140, p. 161–171.
- [14] http://www.fos-s.com
- [15] <u>http://www.rp-photonics.com/fiber_optic_sensors.html</u>
- [16] Miniaturized fiber inline Fabry-Perot interferometer fabricated with a femtosecond laser allows high temperature measurements, 2004, http://www.opticalfibersensors.org/news/be-en/143/detail/item/1440/

- [17] Fielder R.S., Stinson-Bagby K.L., 2003, High-temperature Fiber Optic Sensors, an Enabling Technology for Nuclear Reactor Applications, www.inspi.ufl.edu/icapp04/program/abstracts/4298.pdf
- [18] Fielder R., Vogt W., 2007, High-Temperature Fiber Optic Sensors for Nuclear Power Applications II, <u>http://www.er.doe.gov/sbir/awards_abstracts</u> /sbirsttr/cycle22/phase2/074.htm
- [19] Mandal H., Shen Y., Pal S., Sun T., Grattan K.T.V., Augousti A.T., Zheng R.T., Ngo Q.N., 2004, Measurement of temperature and strain over a wide range using fibre optic laser-based sensor systems, Photon 04, 6-9 September 2004, Glasgow, Scotland.
- [20] Fiber-Optic, Ultra-High Temperature Sensor to 1000 °C, Sensors & Transducers e-Digest, Vol. 96, Issue 9, September 2008: Product News, <u>http://www.sensorsportal.com/HTML/DIGEST/september 08/Temperature senso</u> rs.htm
- [21] Wen X., Yaosheng C., Wei G., Ming-Qiu X., 1991, Fiber optic sensor applied to measure high temperature under high-pressure condition, Proc. SPIE Vol. 1572, p. 170-174, Int Conf on Optical Fibre Sensors in China, http://adsabs.harvard.edu/abs/1991SPIE.1572,.170X
- [22] http://www.optrand.com/
- [23] http://www.setra.com/
- [24] Clowes J.R., McInnes J., Zervas M.N., Payne D.N., 1998, Effects of High Temperature and Pressure on Silica Optical Fibre Sensors, Optoelectronics Research Centre, University of Southampton.
- [25] University of Strathclyde, Combined Optical Pressure and Temperature Sensor, <u>http://www.strath.ac.uk/ri/businessdevelopmentservice/technologyflyers</u> /combinedopticalpressureandtemperaturesensor/
- [26] Canning J., Stevenson M., Bandyopadhyay S., Cook K., 2008, Extreme Silica Optical Fibre Gratings, Sensors 8, p. 6448-6452.
- [27] OMNISENS DITEST STA-R Series, Fiber optic distributed temperature and strain monitoring system, <u>http://www.omnisens.ch/ditest/3511-ditest-sta-r.php</u>
- [28] Inaudi D., Glisic B., 2006, Fiber Optic Sensing for Innovative Oil & Gas Production and Transport Systems, 18th International Conference on Optical Fiber Sensors, October 23-27, 2006, Cancun, Mexico.
- [29] www.sensornet.co.uk

- [30] A fibre sensor fabricated by splicing together three different types of optical fibre and capable of measuring temperatures up to 1000°C, 2009, http://www.opticalfibersensors.org/news/be-en/143/detail/item/1607/
- [31] Beshears D.L., Allison S. W., Andrews W. H., Cates M.R., Grann E.B., Manges W.W., McIntyre T.J., Scudiere M.B., Simpson M.L., Childs R.M., Vehec J., Zhang L., 1997, Application of Phosphor Thermometry to a Galvanneal Temperature Measurement System, <u>http://www.ornl.gov/sci/phosphors/Pdfs/102673_Galv.pdf</u>
- [32] Heyes A.L., Seefeldt S., Feist J.P., 2006, Two-colour phosphor thermometry for surface temperature measurement, Optics & Laser Technology 38, p. 257– 265.
- [33] Allison S.W., Goedeke S.M., Beshears D.L., Cates M.R., 2003, Advances in high temperature phosphor thermometry for aerospace applications, 39th AIAA/ASME/SAE/ASEE Joint Propulsion Conference and Exhibit, 20-23 July 2003, Huntsville, Alabama.
- [34] Cates M.R., 1997, Taking an engine's temperature, Mechanical Engineering CIME, <u>http://www.allbusiness.com/professional-scientific/scientific-research-development/602197-1.html</u>
- [35] Khalid A.H., Kontis K., 2008, Thermographic Phosphors for High Temperature Measurements: Principles, Current State of the Art and Recent Applications, Sensors 8, p. 5673-5744.
- [36] Allison S.W., Beshears D.L., Cates M.R., Gillies G.T., 1998, A wide range phosphor thermometry technique, <u>http://www.osti.gov/bridge/servlets/</u>purl/654164-oiSPuz/webviewable/654164.pdf
- [37] Brübach J., Dreizler A., Janicka J., 2007, Gas compositional and pressure effects on thermographic phosphor thermometry, *Meas. Sci. Technol.* 18, p. 764-770.
- [38] Ruan H., Chen Y., Claus R.O., 2004, High Temperature Multiparameter Borehole Logging System for Geothermal and Oil Wells International High Temperature Electronics Conference (HiTEC 2004), Santa Fe, May 17-20, 2004.
- [39] http://www.slb.com/
- [40] Kamiirisa H., Kondo T., 2000, Development of high-temperature MWD system for geothermal well drilling, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2000 Kyushu - Tohoku, Japan, May 28 - June 10, 2000.
- [41] Stevens L., 2000, Pressure, temperature and flow logging in geothermal wells, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2000 Kyushu - Tohoku, Japan, May 28 - June 10, 2000.

- [42] Dornstadter J., Fabritius A., Heidinger P., Heinemann B., Zurek K., 2006, Results of first half year fibre optic temperature logging, Status of fibre optic borehole logging, EC Contract SESG-CT-2003-50270G, 4 p.
- [43] Huang Z., Peng W., Xu J., Pickrell G.R., Wang A., 2005, Fiber temperature sensor for high-pressure environment, Opt. Eng. Vol. 44, (<u>http://spiedl.aip.org</u>)
- [44] Instantaneous Temperature Profile Log (ITPL), Shincoh Co., Ltd., http://www.e-technotrade.jp/en/seeds/kitakyu/e_162.html
- [45] Ikeda N., Uogata K., Kawazoe S., Haruguchi K., 2000, Delineation of fractured reservoir by transient temperature analysis using fiber optic sensor, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2000, Kyushu - Tohoku, Japan, May 28 - June 10, 2000.
- [46] Henninges J., Zimmermann G., Büttner G., Schrötter J., Erbas K., Huenges E., 2005, Wireline Distributed Temperature Measurements and Permanent Installations Behind Casing, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2005, Antalya, Turkey, 24-29 April 2005.
- [47] Shen R.S., Zhang J., Wang Y., Teng R., Wang B.Y., Zhang Y.S., Yan W.P., Zheng J., Du G.T., 2008, Study on high-temperature and high-pressure measurement by using metal-coated FBG, *Microwave Opt Technol Lett* 50, p. 1138–1140.
- [48] 225°C MWD Using Silicon-on-Insulator, <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies</u> /oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects_n/EP/DeepTrek/DT_A_35107MWDSilicon.html
- [49] Radzinski, P., Mack, S., Brady, K., Cheatham, C., Kerk, T., 2005, New Technology High Temperature and High Pressure MWD & LWD System, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2005, Antalya, Turkey, 24-29 April 2005.
- [50] http://www.kusterco.com/index.html
- [51] High temperature loggers (<u>http://www.whoi.edu/page.do?pid=17623</u>)
- [52] Fornari D.J., Shank T., VonDamm K.L., Gregg T.K.P., Lilley M., Levai G., Bray A., Haymon R.M., Perfit M.R., Lutz R., 1998, Time-series temperature measurements at high-temperature hydrothermal vents, East Pacific Rise 9°49'-51'N: evidence for monitoring a crustal cracking event, Earth and Planetary Science Letters 160, p. 419-431.
- [53] Sawaki T., Sasada M., Sasaki M., Tsukimura K., Hyodo M., Okabe T., Uchida T., Yagi M., 1997, Synthetic fluid inclusion logging to measure temperatures and sample fluids in the Kakkonda geothermal field, Japan, Geothermics Vol. 26, No. 3, p. 281–303.

- [54] Sekine K., Bignall G., Tsuchiya N., 2004, Application of synthetic fluid inclusions to simultaneous temperature-pressure logging in hightemperature (sub- to supercritical) geothermal systems, Geothermics 33, p. 775–793.
- [55] DOE/PTTC High Temperature, High Pressure Technology Integration Workshop Minutes, June 22, 2006, Houston, Texas.
- [56] CEA/LETI <u>http://www.leti.fr/scripts/home/publigen/content/templates/show.asp?</u> P=325&L=EN&SYNC=Y
- [57] Bignall G., Yamasaki N., Hashida T., 2000, A newly developed flow-reactor, with pH measurement system, for laboratory simulation of water-rock interaction processes, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress, Kyushu -Tohoku, Japan, May 28 - June 10, 2000.
- [58] Jiang L., Jones T.G.J., 2009, Optical pH sensor, http://www.faqs.org/patents/app/20090009768
- [59] Maher M.H., Shahriari M.R., 1993, A Fiber Optic Chemical Sensor for Measurement of Groundwater pH, Journal of Testing and Evaluation, Vol. 21, Issue 5.
- [60] <u>http://www.oceanoptics.com/Products/phsensor.asp</u>
- [61] Farguharson S., Swaim P.D., Christenson C.P., McCloud M., Freiser H., Fiber optic based pH measurement in a geothermal brine, Proc. SPIE Vol. 1587, p. 232-239, in Chemical, Biochemical, and Environmental Fiber Sensors III, Wlodarczyk M.T. Ed.
- [62] Lopez-Huerta F., Beltran-Perez G., Palomino-Merino R., 2005, Fiber Optic Sensors for the pH Measurement Based on the Absorption of the Evanescent Wave, in Frontiers in Optics, Optical Society of America Technical Digest Series, paper JWA20, Tucson, Arizona, October 16, 2005. http://www.opticsinfobase.org/abstract.cfm?URI=FiO-2005-JWA20
- [63] Saunders C., Scully P.J., 2005, Distributed plastic optical fibre measurement of pH using a photon counting OTDR, *Journal of Physics*, Conference Series Sensors & their Applications XIII, 15, p. 61-66.
- [64] Gupta B.D., Sharma S., 1998, A long-range fiber optic pH sensor prepared by dye doped sol-gel immobilization technique, Optics Communications 154, p. 282-284.
- [65] Gupta B.D., Sharma S., 1997, Evanescent wave absorption based fiber optic pH sensor prepared by dye doped sol-gel immobilization technique, Optics Communications 140, p. 32-35.

- [66] Hayert M., Perrier-Cornet J.M., Gervais P., 1999, A Simple Method for Measuring the pH of Acid Solutions Under High Pressure, J. Phys. Chem. A, 103, 12, p. 1785-1789.
- [67] Campbell M., Yang Y., Wallace P.A., Holmes-Smith S.A., 1997, A multipoint quasi-distributed optical fiber pH sensor, Optical Review, Vol. 4, Issue 1, A111-A113
- [68] Ferrero F., Sanchez I., Campo J., Costa J.M., Anton J., Vega M., Sanz-Medel A., 2005, pH Measurements Using Simple Fiber-Optic Instrumentation and Luminescence Detection, Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference, 16-19 May 2005, Proceedings of the IEEE Vol. 2, p. 1471–1475.
- [69] Borman C., Raghuraman B., Muhammad M., Gao J., Gustavson G., Rabbito P., 2008, Spectroscopic pH measurement at high temperature and/or high pressure, <u>http://www.faqs.org/patents/app/20080259335</u>
- [70] Ding K., Seyfried Jr. W.E., Zhang Z., Tivey M.K., Von Damm K.L., Bradley A.M., 2005, The in situ pH of hydrothermal fluids at mid-ocean ridges, Earth and Planetary Science Letters 237, p. 167–174.
- [71] Ding K., Seyfried Jr. W.E., 1996, Direct pH Measurement of NaCI-Bearing Fluid with an in Situ Sensor at 400°C and 40 Megapascals, Science 14, Vol. 272, no. 5268, p. 1634-1636.
- [72] Manna M.F., Grandstaff D.E., Ulmer G.C., Vicenzi E.P., 2004, The feasibility of using yttria-stabilized ZrO₂ sensors for pH measurements in geothermal field and industrial applications, Water-Rock Interaction, Wanty & Seall! (eds), Taylor & Francis Group, London, ISBN 90-5809-641-6.
- [73] Zhang R., Hu S., Zhang X., 2006, Zr/ZrO2 electrode and producing method thereof and integrated high temperature and hugh pressure chemical sensor composed by the same, PATENT WO/2006/099799 (http://WWW.WIPO.INT/PCTDB/EN/WO.JSP?WO=2006099799)
- [74] Liu C., Macdonald D.D., 1995, An advanced Pd/Pt relative resistance sensor for the continuous monitoring of dissolved hydrogen in aqueous systems at high subcritical and supercritical temperatures, The Journal of Supercritical Fluids 8, p. 263-270.
- [75] <u>http://www.cormet.fi/solutions4.htm</u>
- [76] <u>http://www.corrinstruments.com/High T High P Probes/H T H P probes.html</u>
- [77] Schaef H.T., McGrail B.P., 2005, Direct measurements of pH and dissolved CO₂ in H₂O-CO₂ brine mixtures to supercritical conditions, Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Greenhouse Gas Control Technologies, September 2004, Vancouver, Canada, p. 2169-2173.

- [78] <u>http://www.sensorex.com/products/conductivity_sensors/process/stainless_steel_conductivity_sensors.html</u>
- [79] http://www.yokogawa.com/us/ja/analytical/us-ykgw-anal-sx42-pdetail.htm
- [80] http://www.cormet.fi/pdf/PDF_Conductivity_electrode.pdf
- [81] http://www.freepatentsonline.com/4455530.html
- [82] <u>http://www.emersonprocess.com/Raihome/documents/Lig_ProdData_71-</u> 140_141_142.pdf
- [83] Huang M., Papangelakis V.G., 2009, High-Temperature Conductivity Measurements of Concentrated NaCl-H₂SO₄-H₂O Solutions up to 250 °C, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res., 48, 6, p. 2781-2785.
- [84] http://www.astisensor.com/conductivity_sensors.htm
- [85] http://www.ryanprocess.com/products.html
- [86] http://www.hach.com/fmmimghach?/CODE%3AL2468_05-069478[1
- [87] http://www.seabird.com/products/profilers.htm
- [88] http://www.idronaut.it/product/1.htm
- [89] Broadbent H. A., Fries D. P., Steimle G.T., Ivanov S., 2007, Micro sensor system for liquid conductivity, temperature and depth, United States Patent 7259566, http://www.freepatentsonline.com/7259566.html
- [90] Ogita M., Saika N., Nakanishi Y., Hatanaka Y., 1999, Ga₂O₃ thin films for hightemperature gas sensors, *Applied Surface Science* 142, p. 188-191.
- [91] Ogita M., Higo K., Nakanishi Y., Hatanaka Y., 2001, Ga₂O₃ thin film for oxygen sensor at high temperature, International Conference on Solid Films and Surfaces N°10, Princeton, 09/07/2000.
- [92] Baban C.J., Toyoda Y., Ogita M., 2004, High temperature oxygen sensor using a Pt-Ga₂O₃-Pt sandwich structure, Jpn. J. Appl. Phys. 43, p. 7213-7216.
- [93] Spirig J.V., Ramamoorthy R., Akbar S.A., Routbort J.L., Singh D., Dutta P.K., 2007, High temperature zirconia oxygen sensor with sealed metal/metal oxide internal reference, Sensors and Actuators B 124, p. 192-201.
- [94] University of Utah, 2005-2009, Novel High Temperature Materials for In-Situ Sensing Devices, <u>http://fossil.energy.gov/fred/factsheet.jsp?doc=5049</u> &projtitle=Novel%20High%20Temperature%20Materials%20for%20In-Situ%20Sensing%20Devices

- [95] Birdsell E., Allan M.G., 2006, Wireless chemical sensors for high temperature environments, Solid-State Sensors, Actuators, and Microsystems Workshop, Hilton Head Island, South Carolina, June 4-8, 2006.
- [96] Richter D., Fritze H., Schneider T., Hauptmann P., Bauersfeld N., Kramer K.D., Wiesner K., Fleischer M., Karle G., Schubert A., 2006, Integrated high temperature gas sensor system based on bulk acoustic wave resonators, Sensors and Actuators B 118, p. 466-471.
- [97] Remillard J.T., Jones J.R., Poindexter B.D., Narula C.K., Weber W.H., 1999, Demonstration of a High-Temperature Fiber-Optic Gas Sensor Made With a Sol-Gel Process to Incorporate a Fluorescent Indicator, Applied Optics, Vol. 38, Issue 25, 5306-5309
- [98] High-Temperature Logging While Drilling Tool, http://www.netl.doe.gov /technologies/oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects_n/EP/DCS/ DCS_C_34175HiTempLWD.html
- [99] High Temperature Measurement-While-Drilling Development, http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects n/EP/ DCS/DCS_C_34345HiTempMWD.html
- [100] Cohen J., Rogers J.D., Malcore E., Estep J., 2002, The Quest for High Temperature MWD and LWD Tools, GasTIPS, p. 8-12
- [101] An Innovative High-Temperature, High Pressure Measurement-While-Drilling (MWD) Tool, <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-</u> gas/NaturalGas/Projects_n/EP/DeepTrek/DT_A_41835MWDTool.html
- [102] DOE/PTTC High Temperature, High Pressure Technology Integration Workshop Minutes, June 22, 2006, Houston, Texas.
- [103] http://www.alt.lu/imaging_tools.htm
- [104] Normann R.A., 2006, First High-Temperature Electronics Products Survey 2005 - Well Known Commercial High-Temperature Applications, Sandia report SAND2006-1580.
- [105] Downhole Fluid Analyzer, <u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/</u> <u>NaturalGas/Projects_n/EP/DCS/DCS_A_40481DownholeAnalyz.html</u>
- [106] Twose C., Parker R., Okabe T., Kirihara K., Nakata H., Kondo T., Karasawa H., Cappetti G., 2000, Development of a high temperature borehole fluid sampler and its filed experiments in the Larderello geothermal field, Italy, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2000 Kyushu - Tohoku, Japan, May 28 - June 10, 2000.
- [107] Geosciences Measurement Facility, http://www-esd.lbl.gov/GG/GMF/index.html

- [108] Naganuma T., Kyo M., Ueki T., Takeda K., Ishibashi J.I., 1998, A New, Automatic Hydrothermal Fluid Sampler Using a Shape-Memory Alloy, Journal of Oceanography 54, p. 241-246.
- [109] www.aps-tech.com
- [110] Matsunaga I., Sugita H., Tao H., 2001, Tracer monitoring by a fiber-optic fluorometer during a long-term circulation test at the Hijori HDR site, Proceedings of the Twenty-Sixth Workshop on Geothermal Reservoir Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford, California, January 29-31, 2001.
- [111] High-Temperature Battery for Drilling Applications, http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects n/EP/ DeepTrek/DT 42946HiTempBattery.html
- [112] High Temperature Capacitor Technology and Manufacturing Capability, http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects_n/EP/ DeepTrek/DT_42946HiTempBattery.html
- [113] High Temperature Capacitor Development, http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects n/EP/ DeepTrek/DT 42945HiTempCapacitor.html
- [114] Development of a 275°C Downhole Microcomputer System, http://www.netl.doe.gov/technologies/oil-gas/NaturalGas/Projects n/EP/ DeepTrek/DT_42656Microcomputer.html
- [115] DOE/PTTC High Temperature, High Pressure Technology Integration Workshop Minutes, June 22, 2006, Houston, Texas.
- [116] DOE/PTTC High Temperature, High Pressure Technology Integration Workshop Minutes, June 22, 2006, Houston, Texas.
- [117] Wang Q., Ding J., Wang W., 2005, Fabrication and temperature coefficient compensation technology of low cost high temperature pressure sensor, *Sensors and Actuators* A, 120, p. 468–473.
- [118] Tezuka K., Ohsaki Y., Miyairi M., Takahashi Y., Ito M., 2002, The high temperature (400°C) memory type fluid-density logging tool – The 4th parameter for geothermal well evaluation, 8 p.
- [119] Henfling J.A., Normann R.A., 2004, High temperature downhole reservoir monitoring system, Proceedings of the twenty-ninth Workshop on Geothermal Reservoir Engineering, Stanford University, Stanford, California, January 26-28, 2004.

- [120] Normann R.A., Henfling J.A., Chavira D.J., 2005, Recent Advancements in High-Temperature, High-Reliability Electronics Will Alter Geothermal Exploration, Proceedings World Geothermal Congress 2005, Antalya, Turkey, 24-29 April 2005.
- [121] Murphy B., 2006, Hot is the new cool: High-temp electronics open new era of devices, applications in energy, weapons, Sandia LabNews vol. 58, n°14, July 7, 2006.



Scientific and Technical Centre Metrology, Monitoring and Analysis Division 3, avenue Claude-Guillemin - BP 36009 45060 Orléans Cedex 2 – France – Tel.: +33 (0)2 38 64 34 34